

The latest research trends in the field of economics of education: January to June 2024

EENEE Coordination team





Please cite this publication as:

EENEE (2024). 'The latest research trends in the field of economics of education: January-June 2024', *EENEE report.*

ABOUT EENEE

EENEE is an advisory network of experts working on economics of education and training. The establishment of the network was initiated by the European Commission's Directorate-General for Education and Culture and is funded by the Erasmus+ Programme. PPMI is responsible for the coordination of the EENEE network. More information on EENEE and its deliverables can be found on the network's website www.eenee.eu. For any inquiries, please contact us at: eenee@ppmi.lt.

Contractor:



Gedimino pr. 50, LT -01110 Vilnius, Lithuania Phone: +370 5 2620338 E-mail: info@ppmi.lt www.ppmi.lt

AUTHOR:

EENEE Coordination team

EUROPEAN COMMISSION

Directorate-General for Education, Youth, Sport and Culture Directorate A — Policy Strategy and Evaluation Unit A.4 — Evidence-Based Policy and Evaluation

E-mail: eac-unite-a4@ec.europa.eu

European Commission B-1049 Brussels

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	3
Important themes and issues for future European Commission's work on the econo	mics of
education	4
Journal selection	4
Optimising article clustering with NLP tools	5
Rationale for using natural language processing	5
Process	5
NLP Results	6
Results	7
1.1.Exploring influence factors on student achievement	8
1.2 The intersection between education and the labour market	9
1.3 Gender gaps and educational choices	10
1.4 Education policies and outcomes	11
1.5 Education innovation and teacher practices	12
1.6 Digital education and technological impact	13
Bibliography	15

Important themes and issues for future European Commission's work on the economics of education

This document provides a summary of important themes and issues to inspire future European Commission's work in the field of economics of education and training. The summary highlights published research and foresight studies between January and June 2024, that may be relevant for the upcoming Commission's priorities.

Journal selection

In 2024, the list of journals for tracking research trends was reviewed based on established criteria, with a focus on topic coverage, geographical relevance, and quality assurance. This revision aimed to apply a more transparent and systematic method for key journals selection. The final list of consulted platforms includes academic journal articles and publications from international organisations involved in education (e.g. OECD, World Bank, etc.). This revised list was afterwards shared with members of EENEE to seek recommendations and suggestions for additional relevant journals that publish articles related to the social dimensions of education. The following list indicates the sources and number of articles from each source included in the analysis.

Number	Journal/Relevant organisation	Number of articles selected
1	Citizenship, Social and Economics Education	3
2	Econometrica	1
3	Economics of Education Review	17
4	Economies	0
5	Education Economics	6
6	Educational Assessment, Evaluation and Accountability	0
7	Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis	1
8	International Journal of Educational Research	3
9	Journal of Development Economics	2
10	Journal of Economic Education (JEE)	3
11	Journal of Human Capital	1
12	Journal of Labour Economics	3
13	Journal of Political Economy	2
14	Journal of the European Economic Association	1
15	JRC	1
16	Large scale assessments in education	1
17	OECD	4
18	Quarterly Journal of Economics	0
19	Review of Economic Studies	1
20	Review of Economics and Statistics	1
21	Review of Educational Research	3

22	Teaching and Teacher Education	1
23	The Journal of Human Resources	2
24	The Review of Economic Studies	2
25	UNESCO	1
26	World Bank	1
	Total	61

Optimising article clustering with NLP tools

In our ongoing efforts to enhance the efficiency and objectivity of our research trendtracking process, we have integrated Natural Language Processing (NLP) tools into our workflow. These tools automate the extraction of relevant themes and keywords from academic publications.

The implementation of these tools has significantly reduced the need for manual review and selection of topics, thereby ensuring a broader and more unbiased approach to identifying emerging research topics. Furthermore, their use has facilitated the recognition of other trends in article characteristics, such as the prioritisation of specific education levels over others.

By employing advanced NLP techniques such as keyword extraction and thematic clustering, our aim is to systematically identify and summarise developments and trends in the field of education and training.

Rationale for using natural language processing

The transition to NLP-based research trends is driven by the need to manage efficiently the vast volume of data generated daily¹. Traditional methods are time-consuming and prone to human bias, limiting their effectiveness in comprehensive policy analysis². NLP techniques offer systematic processing, enhancing the objectivity and efficiency of data analysis³. This shift allows for more accurate insights and better-informed policies, which, in the long term, can feed into foresight analysis to anticipate future scenarios. By leveraging ML and NLP, we aim to improve the quality and relevance of our research trends, ensuring they effectively support the policy development process.

Process

The transition to NLP-based research trends involves a structured framework to ensure comprehensive data analysis and clustering. Our approach follows a two-step methodology: keyword extraction (NLP-based) followed by clustering (ML technique).

1. Keyword extraction is performed using NLP techniques to identify relevant terms from titles and abstracts. This step is crucial as it lays the foundation for subsequent analysis by capturing the essence of the text.

 $^{^1}$ 396 publications were released in May 2024 on the European Publication website alone.

² Nay, J. (2018). Natural Language Processing and Machine Learning for Law and Policy Texts. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3438276

³ It is important to note that while NLP techniques can significantly reduce human bias in data processing, they are not free from bias themselves. The algorithms can inadvertently perpetuate existing biases present in the training data. Therefore, integrating a 'human-in-the-loop' approach is crucial to provide oversight and contextual interpretation, helping to mitigate these biases and ensure the quality and relevance of the outputs.

2. Selected keywords are embedded into a vector space and undergo dimensionality reduction to streamline the data. A clustering algorithm (here, HDBSCAN⁴) is then applied to group the keywords into meaningful thematic clusters. This phase helps uncover underlying patterns and trends within the dataset. This process ensures a systematic and objective analysis of large volumes of text, enhancing the efficiency and accuracy of our research trends.

NLP Results

The first implementation of these novel techniques in our research trends analysis is presented below (see Results section). NLP is employed as a powerful tool to detect patterns that are difficult to discern through traditional methods and to understand the large database in novel ways, but it is not meant to replace the expertise of the coordination team, which further refines the NLP clustering and drafts the analytical overview.

This process successfully identified 8 initial clusters (reduced to 6 after analysis). Each final cluster representing a unique thematic area within the dataset. The model revealed the following keywords, as visualised in the accompanying word cloud:



Source: Own creation

The initial implementation of ML and NLP techniques in our research trends analysis demonstrates significant potential in enhancing the objectivity and efficiency of our data processing. This innovative approach is not only a valuable tool for our current project but also holds promise for application in other projects, offering a novel way to analyse and understand large datasets across various fields. The use of NLP represents a forward-thinking step in our research methodology, paving the way for more informed and effective policy development.

Results

This summary of the most relevant articles from top-ranked journals includes the following major topics:

- Exploring effects on student achievement
- The intersection of education and the labour market
- Gender gaps and educational choices
- Education policies and outcomes
- Education innovation and teacher practices
- Digital education and technological impact

While tracking research trends in the most prominent academic journals and recent foresight studies (see Table 1), **we observed six themes** relevant to the highlighted priorities and broader context of the economics of education and training. The following table also covers specific topics, providing a quick oversight of key research themes developed in the academic journals that have an economic aspect of education (see Table 2).

The report is structured according to the themes indicated in the table. Several articles on each theme are then discussed to give a broader understanding of the issues covered in each theme. Even though some of the studies present evidence from the non-EU countries, may also reflect some of the EU challenges and priorities.

TABLE 1. THE MAIN THEMES DISCOVERED IN THE JOURNALS

THEMES	ARTICLES
Exploring factors affecting student achievement (Cluster 1 and Cluster 2)	 Factors affecting predictive power of early numeracy skills on achievement in mathematics in primary school After school programmes effect on academic outcomes The effect of background factors on academic achievement and other outcomes (e.g. attendance, graduation, socioemotional development) Academic inequalities between advantaged and less advantaged students and the role of family, ethnicity, and race The effect of US policies on students' academic achievement The use of assessment data to study influential factors on student achievement The impact of Erasmus mobility programme on student performance in Europe
The intersection between education and the labour market (Cluster 3 and Cluster 5)	 University admission policies in relation to the labour market outcomes University to work transitions (the role of work experience, migration and skills development) Adult Education and retirement reforms Challenges in European job markets (e.g. skills shortages across the EU, new employment patterns)
Gender gaps and educational choices (Cluster 4)	 The role of teaching practices on gender gaps in Mathematics The gender gap in secondary level economic and business courses. Factors influencing the gender gap in STEM fields in Higher Education Women challenges in the labour market
Education policies and outcomes (Cluster 6)	 The effect of Cash Transfer Programmes on education outcomes Policy reforms, short- term, long-term, intended and unintended outcomes Impact of the provision of Adult Education

	 Impact of private scholarship awards on financial aid displacement Provision of support services through means-tested scholarships
Education innovation and teacher practices (Cluster 7)	 Innovation in the context of climate change (e.g. pedagogical interventions, climate literacy) Co-created curriculums and co-teaching innovations Teachers training programmes to promote environments for innovation in STEM fields Creativity as a driver for innovation
Digital education and technological impact (Cluster 8)	 The impact of classroom-level digital programmes on learning outcomes Digital Game Based learning interventions for instruction Inequalities in students' access to technology (e.g. home computer ownership) The emerging role of Artificial Intelligence (AI) in education. Shortages of digital skills in the EU

1.1. Exploring influence factors on student achievement

Numerous studies conducted during the period January-June 2024 explore the impact of factors on student academic achievement. Most of them concentrate on School Education, both at primary and secondary level. They primarily use academic achievement—typically measured by test scores—as their main analytical variable. However, other educational outcome variables also come into play in these analyses.

In primary education, Ruiz et al. (2024) reviews existent literature to explore which numeracy skills in the first year of school most reliably predict achievement in mathematics throughout primary school, aiming to recognise **which are the early indicators of later mathematical achievement**. The review includes fifty-four studies and acknowledges that several factors can affect the predictive power of early numeracy skills, including how these skills are operationalised, the measurement of mathematical ability, and sociodemographic characteristics. Drange and Sandsør (2024) study the effects of a free universal after-school programme on child academic performance in Norway primary schools and confirm its **positive effect on enrolment rates but not on academic performance or student wellbeing.** Their findings also indicate that the programme led to increased earnings for mothers with an immigrant background.

In secondary level, most studies highlight the effect of background factors on learning and future outcomes. Jackson et al. (2024) found that while all students benefit from attending school, the least advantaged students show the greatest improvements over time in graduation rates, socioemotional development, and behavioural outcomes. However, no significant impact was observed on test scores. Authors suggest that although test scores often reflect the reproduction of inequality among students, the greater benefits of schooling for less advantaged students are more closely linked to other dimensions of school quality such as socioemotional and behavioural aspects. In line with this results, Eren and Ozturk (2024) examine the effect of failing secondary school on adult criminal behaviour, economic self-sufficiency and several other medium-and longrun outcomes. The study found varying effects based on students' ethnicity and **race**. Additionally, students who fail school are more likely to require social assistance in adulthood. Lastly, Markussen and Røed (2023) found an increasing intergenerational correlation between parents' earnings and academic achievement of offspring attending schools in the last decades in Norway. In addition, economically disadvantaged families have fallen behind despite of the implementation of public policies that aim to tackle these inequalities. Nevertheless, the expansion of universal childcare and policies to reduce teacher-student ratio remain positive, especially for lower socio-economic level students.

In the US, Tobin (2024) explore the effect of school choice models that promote school competition between public schools and brings evidence on **how school choice**

negatively affects student achievement in public secondary schools. Moreover, the study found that school choice increased household influence and has **decreased teacher empowerment within schools.** In line with this results, Morton, Thompson, and Kuhfeld (2024) underline that an increase in teacher shortages due to burnout and turnovers since the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in the expansion of the four-day school week in some states in the US. The authors explore the effects of this phenomenon on student achievement and growth, and estimate significant negative academic effects on reading achievement, but less in mathematics. In addition, the **negative effects of the four-day school week are estimated higher for female students and students in non-rural areas**.

In light of this global context, UNESCO (2024) published a report called '*The price of inaction: The global private, fiscal and social costs of children and youth not learning'* to highlight the consequences of the learning crisis, which is marked by widening academic gaps among school children and youth. This study **estimates fiscal and social costs of early school leaving and failing to attain basic cognitive skills, or adequate levels of socio-emotional skills for 159 countries**. Based on the analysis of multiple International Organisations sources, mainly from assessment and administrative data, the report provides conclusions and recommendations for policy action focused on quality and equity issues.

The use of assessment data to study the influential factors on education outcomes is very common. For instance, Ofek-Shanny (2024) examine the factors contributing to performance gaps between ethnic minority and majority groups. Given that socioeconomic level often accounts for most of the explanatory capacity in academic differences in PISA results, **the authors explore whether engagement, rather than proficiency gaps, can help explain disparities in low-stakes evaluations.** They found that test engagement can account for more than 50% of the performance gaps and call for policymakers to make deliberate decisions regarding the stakes assigned to assessment tests. Teig and Steinmann (2023) explore which are the potential factors that makes school practices effective and equitable in Nordic countries. By using national and international large-scale assessment, they found **that the large differences in trends and results between these countries risks comparability**, regardless of their similarity in historical, cultural and economic characteristics. Nonetheless, the insights gained from each specific context remain relevant in the context of increasing educational inequalities.

In Higher Education, Granato et al. (2024) examine the **impact of Erasmus student mobility programme on student performance** in terms of graduation, academic scores and labour market outcomes. Applying a regression discontinuity design, authors found that Erasmus mobility not only **improves graduation of students enrolled in scientific and technical fields**, but that the impact is stronger for students who visit foreign universities of relatively lower quality compared to their home university. However, no statistical effect was found on labour market outcomes one year after graduation.

1.2 The intersection between education and the labour market

This section explores the relationship between Higher Education and the labour market, highlighting recent studies on skills development, university admission practices, career outcomes, and challenges in European job markets.

In relation to Higher Education admission practices, Silva (2024) asks **whether universities should select their students based on specialised, subject-specific criteria or a broader set of skills and knowledge** in Portuguese universities. The findings suggest that universities with less specialised admission policies admit a pool of students who achieve higher final Grade Point Averages (GPAs). Silva discusses these results in the context of a changing labour market. Hansen, Hvidman, and Sievertsen (2024) investigate **how changes in university GPAs affect labour market outcomes** in Denmark. By examining a nationwide reform, they identified that the effect of GPA changes largely linked to changes in the grading scale and not to actual changes in student ability. However, the positive effect of a higher GPA on earnings decreases over time as employers gather more information about an employee's true productivity.

Teichert et al. (2024) examine the role of work experience and migration in the transition from university to the workforce in Germany. The regression analysis stresses the **relevance of mobility and work experience in reducing the length of the transition period**. Complementing these findings, the JRC (Seiger et al., 2024) has published two policy briefs raising attention to the persistent skills shortages across the EU, and in view of its consequences, the **increasing need to attract non-EU nationals in occupations with labour shortages and contribute to the twin transition in the EU**.

Regarding career outcomes, Pastorino (2024) argues about the relation between job and wage mobility finding that workers' beliefs about their abilities have a direct effect on their wages. Arellano-Bover (2024) examines the long-term effects of landing a first job at a large firm versus a small one in Spain. The findings confirm that **starting at larger firms persistently enhances long-term outcomes** due to higher quality skills development opportunities.

In the context of the partial retirement reform⁵ in Germany which encourages early retirement among male workers, Ruhose, Thomsen, and Weilage (2024) discuss whether the **provision of Adult Education acts to keep older workers productive by engaging them voluntarily in learning**. Results show an increasing willingness of older workers to acquire skills and abilities independent of financial incentives.

At last, on global labour market trends, the OECD published the 'OECD Employment Outlook' in 2024. This report examines recent labour market trends, including changes in employment rates, wages, and new job vacancies worldwide (OECD, 2024). It also highlights the **rapid shifts in employment patterns, such as job losses in highemission industries and the growth of sectors focused on low-emission activities**. In light of these findings, it offers recommendations for policymakers to address these transitions.

1.3 Gender gaps and educational choices

The NLP model identified a set of articles focusing on the persistent gender gaps in education and in the labour market. Most of these articles explore how gender affect students' choices throughout education, and particularly when accessing STEM and economic and business careers.

In primary education, Di Tommaso et al. (2024) explore the **role of teaching practices on gender gaps in mathematics**. They evaluate the causal effect of an intervention to improve children's skills in Italy by promoting peer interaction, sharing of ideas, learning from mistakes, and problem-solving. Results indicate an improvement on girls' performance and notable reduction in math gender gap.

In secondary level, studies identify gender gaps and explore its consequences on student performance and outcomes, especially for economic studies (Avery et al., 2024; Mašek, Potužák, and Serenini, 2024). In Czech Republic, Mašek, Potužák, and Serenini (2024) investigate the knowledge of Economics in secondary level students using data from Czech Economics Olympiad. They identified a gender gap among students and confirm problematic aspects in the Czech education systemin terms of quality across types of schools and regions. Likewise, Avery et al. (2024) study the **impact of a gender-neutral**

⁵ In this study, the authors refer to *partial retirement* as the possibility of drawing a pension early while continuing to work part-time (Ruhose, Thomsen, and Weilage, 2024).

change intervention to the content and instruction of introductory economics. The authors found improvements in women's grades (in comparison to men) and significant reduction of underperformance.

In Higher Education, studies explore different factors influencing the gender gap in STEM classes and economy courses. Beneito, Soria-Espín, and Vicente-Chirivella (2024) found that in Spanish universities, **STEM careers still have women as a minority, and that age is a significant variable affecting female students**, as older women are more likely to express a preference for high-earning, academically selective, and STEM degrees, while this effect is not significant for men. Asián Chaves et al. (2024) also explore the gender gap in Spanish universities focusing on access to economics and business administration degrees. The findings indicate that **women are underrepresented but there are improvements in academic performance and retention rates** during the studied period. These promising results are shared in the need to continue promoting women to choose economic studies.

In the US, Ahn et al. (2024) found that stricter grading standards for STEM courses tend to reduce enrolment, particularly among women. In view of this results, they recommend **revising grading policies to standardise average grades across classes to help bridge the gender gap.** Owen (2023) explores whether providing information about relative academic performance influences student choices and helps explain gender gaps in STEM fields. The findings confirm that offering such information has positive effects. However, they raise concerns about the **challenges in changing deep-rooted gender stereotypes and highlight the need for more intensive, targeted interventions to address these gaps effectively**.

Within the labour market, Janys (2024) explores the underrepresentation of women professors in academia and in economic fields. By proposing a test to detect hiring bias through implicit quotas (unspoken orientation to hire less individuals from a group) she describes that **German universities have an implicit quota of one or two women on the department level.** Similarly, Gallen (2024) examines the challenges faced by women in Danish workplaces and estimates an 8% 'gender productivity gap,' which contributes to gender wage inequalities. **This productivity gap is largely attributed to the impact of motherhood on women's careers**. However, while productivity differences explain the pay gap for mothers, they do not account for the pay gap for non-mothers.

1.4 Education policies and outcomes

Another set of articles provide valuable insights on the outcomes of implementing targeted education policies across various educational levels. These studies examine the effects of specific interventions and reforms, offering a comprehensive understanding of how different policies impact student achievement, retention, and overall educational quality.

Cash transfer programmes, both conditional and unconditional, are significant household policy interventions that have shown positive impact on children's school attendance and poverty reduction in multiple countries, particularly in developing nations (World Bank, 2020). Hızıroğlu Aygün et al. (2024) ask **whether unconditional cash transfers can keep refugee children in school and out of work** in the context of Turkey, a country that hosts the world's largest refugee population. Results indicate **large positive effects on child labour reduction, and an increase school enrolment and retention in refugee children.** These results are crucial for supporting policy aimed at refugee support.

In Hungary, Adamecz (2023) examines a secondary-level reform that proposed raising the compulsory school leaving age from 16 to 18 years. While the reform positively affected the length of schooling, it failed to reduce the dropout rates, particularly among the most at-risk group of Roma ethnic minority students. Additionally, the reform did not show an effect on employment rates and wages. The study concludes that **policies aimed at**

retaining students in secondary education should focus on achieving certification rather than merely extending the compulsory schooling age. In Germany, Schwerter, Netz, and Hübner (2024) analysed the long-term and unintended effects of an instructional time school reform that proposes to reduce the number of school years and increase weekly instructional time for secondary school students. They found a negative effect and increased time gap between school completion and access to Higher Education attributable to reform exposure. The authors highlight the importance of studying unintended and long-term effects of school reforms on individual life courses.

In the transition from secondary education to post-secondary studies, Lindström and Eklund Heinonen (2024) discuss the mid-term effect of adult education provision on postsecondary attainment. They found large positive effect of adult education on workers who were displaced during recession periods. In other words, **workers who attended secondary adult education invested in the continuation of studies, attending university or tertiary education**.

In post-secondary institutions, Lowry et al. (2024) explore the **impact of private scholarship awards on financial aid displacement** within the US system. They analyse how various components of students' financial aid packages—such as the cost of attendance, grants, and other scholarships—are adjusted when a private scholarship is awarded. Students often perceive this as unfair, as the anticipated reduction in their costs may not materialise when colleges offset the private scholarship by reducing other forms of aid. The authors argue that **these practices usually shift the benefit from students to institutions**, making the programmes more of a subsidy for colleges.

In Higher Education, different studies focus on **challenges in the provision of support services, scholarships and other education policies to contribute to students education** (Barnes, Fischer, and Kilpatrick, 2024; Grobon and Wolff, 2024). Based on public transfer data, Grobon and Wolff (2024) found that means-tested scholarships for students in French Higher Education institutions has led to a decrease in parental transfers to students. These results suggest that parents are effectively adjusting their private transfer decisions according to scholarship benefits, leading to believe that the scholarship is probably benefitting low-income parents who reduce the amount of money they give to their children. Authors highlight the importance of **analysing means-tested scholarships to guarantee appropriate allocation of public resources**.

1.5 Education innovation and teacher practices

The literature in this section explores innovative practices in education. In most cases, authors highlight the crucial role of teachers in implementing innovative classroom practices, such as curricular and pedagogical innovations, and in promoting student awareness and sensitivity to climate change consequences. Other literature focus on teacher's role in fostering creativity, collaboration, and sustainable practices.

In the context of the climate change crisis, the OECD published the report 'Rethinking education in the context of climate change' calling for education to rethink and innovate education practices (Nusche, Fuster Rabella, and Lauterbach, 2024). The study looks at **strategies to empower learners for action through curricular and pedagogical innovations** (e.g. cross-curricular learning, restructure science education) and proposes to increase school education system resilience through policy tools. Srivastava (2024) studies at the school level the efforts to ensuring climate literacy, and how this impact on the environment behaviour of children. Díez-Gutiérrez and Palomo-Cermeño (2024) examine the role of social education professionals in a changing society where **students must interact better with their social environment**. This interaction is increasingly crucial for developing students' environmental competencies in a globalized context.

In The Netherlands, Geurts et al. (2024) studied an innovative practice of curriculum cocreation between teachers and students in schools as a form to increase engagement on citizenship education. **Co-created curriculum proposes including students in the planning, acting and reflecting on the curriculum design**. Through the Participatory Action Research (PAR)⁶ methodology, the author describes how teachers and students interact in the design, developing and the delivery of lessons. Similarly, Vembye, Weiss, and Hamilton Bhat (2024) studied co-teaching and related collaborative models of instruction which are widely used schools. They explored the effect of these collaborative models on students' academic achievement and search for the moderating factors. The authors found a moderate, yet significant effect of collaborative instruction compared to single-taught controls.

Pozo-Rico et al. (2024) studied the effectiveness of a training programme targeted at teachers in schools. The programme aims to empower them to manage change and enhance their competencies to **promote positive environments for innovation in STEM fields**, and ultimately enhance students' academic achievement and STEM competencies. The programme emphasized on project-based learning, real-life problemsolving, and interdisciplinary concepts. Results evidence that teachers improved job satisfaction, teaching efficacy and leaning towards innovation as well as students' academic performance in STEM disciplines.

According to Brauer, Ormiston, and Beausaert (2024), creativity drives learning and innovation. These authors study reviewed empirical studies to identify creativity-fostering teacher behaviours across all academic disciplines in Higher Education. With the results, they created a model that highlights the transdisciplinary, interactive, and interdependent nature of creativity-fostering teacher behaviours.

1.6 Digital education and technological impact

The final trend recognised in the literature on the economics of education concerns the advances in digital education and the technological impact on educational contexts. In the face of an accelerated digital technology integration in education (especially after the COVID-19) authors discuss the implications and applications at both the policy level and classroom level, as well as its influence on youth and the emerging role of artificial intelligence.

At the classroom level, Hall and Lundin (2024) examine the impact of one-to-one computer programmes on learning outcomes in primary schools in Sweden. Their study tests students' performance in language and mathematics, finding no significant effects on test scores. This suggests that **merely providing one-to-one computer access may not be sufficient to enhance academic performance**. Barz et al. (2023) explore the efficacy of Digital Game-Based Learning (DGBL) interventions compared to traditional instruction methods. Their research assesses DGBL interventions' effects on cognitive, metacognitive, and affective-motivational learning outcomes. The findings partially support the positive impact of DGBL interventions, indicating practical implications for their implementation in educational settings.

Djinovic and Giannakopoulos (2024) study the impact of home computer ownership on educational outcomes during adolescence in Greece. Their findings reveal that children aged 14–18 without computer access have a 10-percentage point higher probability of dropping out of school compared to those with access. This highlights the **significant disparities in human capital development due to unequal access to technology during critical developmental stages**. Elshani and Rrecaj (2023) examine the level of digital citizenship development in Kosovo. This mixed-methods study examines the role of public institutions in raising awareness, promoting, and managing digital citizenship. They

⁶ Participatory Action Research (PAR) assumes knowledge is rooted in social relations and most powerful when produced collaboratively through action (Geurts et al., 2024).

provide specific recommendations on how to address the challenges associated with digital citizenship development in the country.

In relation to AI, a World Bank publication (Molina et al., 2024), highlight the transformative impact of Artificial Intelligence (AI) on education. According to the article, **AI offers innovative opportunities to personalise learning experiences, support teachers and students in their daily tasks, and optimise educational management**. The study outlines the main developments driven by AI, emphasising its practical benefits for teachers, students, parents, and academic institutions. Galindo-Domínguez et al. (2024) study teachers' digital competence and their attitudes towards AI in education in Spain. Their study suggests that **while AI can provide positive effects for both teachers and students, there are still barriers hindering its adoption.** Despite teachers expressing a high willingness to use AI, they report low levels of personal experience with the technology, indicating a need for further training and exposure to fully harness AI's potential in educational settings.

Lastly, at the regional level, the rise in cyber-attacks has exposed significant vulnerabilities in current defence and operational systems, underscoring a **critical shortage of skilled cyber security professionals in Europe**. According to the (OECD, 2024) the demand for cyber security expertise has been analysed through online job postings in France, Germany, and Poland to understand the evolving landscape of cyber security policies and professional experiences worldwide, highlighting the urgent need to strengthen cyber security workforce capabilities.

Bibliography

Adamecz, A., 'Longer Schooling with Grade Retention: The Effects of Increasing the School Leaving Age on Dropping out and Labour Market Success', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 97, December 2023, p. 102487.

Agasisti, T., F. Bolzoni, and M. Soncin, 'Would You Follow the Advice? The Effect of School Guidance on Students' Academic Success', *Education Economics*, Vol. 32, No. 4, July 3, 2024, pp. 494–509.

Ahn, T., P. Arcidiacono, A. Hopson, and J. Thomas, 'Equilibrium Grading Policies With Implications for Female Interest in STEM Courses', *Econometrica*, Vol. 92, No. 3, 2024, pp. 849–880.

Arellano-Bover, J., 'Career Consequences of Firm Heterogeneity for Young Workers: First Job and Firm Size', *Journal of Labor Economics*, Vol. 42, No. 2, April 1, 2024, pp. 549–589.

Asián Chaves, R., E.M. Buitrago Esquinas, I. Masero Moreno, and R. Yñíguez Ovando, 'Gender Gap in University Studies of Economics-Business Area: Evidence from Spain', *The Journal of Economic Education*, Vol. 55, No. 3, July 2, 2024, pp. 232–248.

Avery, M., J. Caldwell, C.D. Schunn, and K. Wolfe, 'Improving Introductory Economics Course Content and Delivery Improves Outcomes for Women', *The Journal of Economic Education*, Vol. 55, No. 3, July 2, 2024, pp. 216–231.

Barnes, N., S. Fischer, and S. Kilpatrick, 'Going above and beyond: Realigning University Student Support Services to Students', *International Journal of Educational Research*, Vol. 124, 2024, p. 102270.

Barz, N., M. Benick, L. Dörrenbächer-Ulrich, and F. Perels, 'The Effect of Digital Game-Based Learning Interventions on Cognitive, Metacognitive, and Affective-Motivational Learning Outcomes in School: A Meta-Analysis', *Review of Educational Research*, May 9, 2023, p. 003465432311677.

Beneito, P., J. Soria-Espín, and Ó. Vicente-Chirivella, 'Month of Birth and Aspirational Career Choice: A Gender Perspective', *Education Economics*, Vol. 32, No. 4, July 3, 2024, pp. 413–439.

Bover, O., L. Hospido, and E. Villanueva, 'The Impact of High School Financial Education on Financial Knowledge and Saving Choices: Evidence from a Randomized Trial in Spain', *Journal of Human Resources*, January 8, 2024, pp. 0720-11049R2.

Brauer, R., J. Ormiston, and S. Beausaert, 'Creativity-Fostering Teacher Behaviors in Higher Education: A Transdisciplinary Systematic Literature Review', *Review of Educational Research*, June 25, 2024, p. 00346543241258226.

Chang, Y. and A. Mann, 'Enhancing green career guidance systems for sustainable futures", *OECD Education Working Papers*, No. 318, OECD Publishing, Paris, 2024. https://doi.org/10.1787/e6ad2d9c-en.

Di Tommaso, M.L., D. Contini, D. De Rosa, F. Ferrara, D. Piazzalunga, and O. Robutti, 'Tackling the Gender Gap in Mathematics with Active Learning Methodologies', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 100, June 2024, p. 102538.

Díez-Gutiérrez, E.-J., and E. Palomo-Cermeño, 'A Literature Review of the Role Played by Social Educators in the Spanish Schooling System', *Citizenship, Social and Economics Education*, Vol. 23, No. 1, April 2024, pp. 17–30.

Djinovic, V., and N. Giannakopoulos, 'Home Computer Ownership and Educational Outcomes of Adolescents in Greece', *Education Economics*, Vol. 32, No. 4, July 3, 2024, pp. 523–537.

Drange, N., and A.M.J. Sandsør, 'The Effects of a Free Universal After-School Program on Child Academic Outcomes', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 98, February 2024, p. 102504.

Elshani, A., and B.T. Rrecaj, 'Building a Resillient Digital Society of Young Europeans: An Assessment of Kosovo's Standing and Needs for a Digital Citizenry', *Citizenship, Social and Economics Education*, Vol. 22, No. 3, December 2023, pp. 172–188.

Eren, O., and O. Ozturk, 'Student Accountability, Exit Exams, and Long-Run Outcomes', *Journal of Human Resources*, February 5, 2024, pp. 0422-12277R1.

Galindo-Domínguez, H., N. Delgado, L. Campo, and D. Losada, 'Relationship between Teachers' Digital Competence and Attitudes towards Artificial Intelligence in Education', *International Journal of Educational Research*, Vol. 126, 2024, p. 102381.

Gallen, Y., 'Motherhood and the Gender Productivity Gap', *Journal of the European Economic Association*, Vol. 22, No. 3, June 6, 2024, pp. 1055–1096.

Geurts, E.M.A., R.P. Reijs, H.H.M. Leenders, E.M.C. Simons, M.W.J. Jansen, and C.J.P.A. Hoebe, "I Have Discovered How to Have Faith in My Students': Negotiating a Citizenship Education Curriculum with Vocational Education Students', *Citizenship, Social and Economics Education*, January 9, 2024, p. 14788047231225747.

Granato, S., E. Havari, G. Mazzarella, and S.V. Schnepf, 'Study Abroad Programmes and Student Outcomes: Evidence from Erasmus', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 99, April 2024, p. 102510.

Grobon, S., and F.-C. Wolff, 'Do Public Scholarships Crowd out Parental Transfers? Evidence at the Intensive Margin from France', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 98, February 2024, p. 102502.

Hall, C., and M. Lundin, 'Technology in the Classroom: Personal Computers and Learning Outcomes in Primary School', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 100, June 2024, p. 102536.

Hansen, A.T., U. Hvidman, and H.H. Sievertsen, 'Grades and Employer Learning', *Journal of Labor Economics*, Vol. 42, No. 3, July 1, 2024, pp. 659–682.

Hızıroğlu Aygün, A., M.G. Kırdar, M. Koyuncu, and Q. Stoeffler, 'Keeping Refugee Children in School and out of Work: Evidence from the World's Largest Humanitarian Cash Transfer Program', *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol. 168, May 2024, p. 103266.

Jackson, C.K., S.C. Porter, J.Q. Easton, and S. Kiguel, *Who Benefits From Attending Effective High Schools?*, Vol. no. w28194 of *NBER Working Paper Series*, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, Mass, 2024.

Janys, L., 'Testing the Presence of Implicit Hiring Quotas with Application to German Universities', *Review of Economics and Statistics*, Vol. 106, No. 3, May 14, 2024, pp. 627–637.

Kowalczuk-Walędziak, M., G. Ion, and S.L. Crespo, 'Towards a Model for Success: Exploring the Motivations and Factors Driving Research-Engaged Teachers', *International Journal of Educational Research*, Vol. 126, 2024, p. 102386.

Lindström, A., 'General Adult Education of Displaced Workers in a Recession: The Effects on University Enrollment and Graduation', *Education Economics*, Vol. 32, No. 3, May 3, 2024, pp. 339–354.

Lowry, D., L.C. Page, A. Nurshatayeva, and J. Iriti, 'Subtraction by Addition: Do Private Scholarship Awards Lead to Financial Aid Displacement?', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 99, April 2024, p. 102517.

Markussen, S., and K. Røed, 'The Rising Influence of Family Background on Early School Performance', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 97, December 2023, p. 102491.

Mašek, F., P. Potužák, and R. Serenini, 'The Economic Knowledge of Czech High School Students: Analysis of the Economics Olympiad', *The Journal of Economic Education*, Vol. 55, No. 3, July 2, 2024, pp. 205–215.

Mogstad, M., J.P. Romano, A.M. Shaikh, and D. Wilhelm, 'Inference for Ranks with Applications to Mobility across Neighbourhoods and Academic Achievement across Countries', *Review of Economic Studies*, Vol. 91, No. 1, January 12, 2024, pp. 476–518.

Molina, E., C. Cobo, J. Pineda, and H. Rovner, 'AI Revolution in Education: What You Need to Know. In Digital Innovations in Education.', World Bank, 2024.

Morton, E., P.N. Thompson, and M. Kuhfeld, 'A Multi-State, Student-Level Analysis of the Effects of the Four-Day School Week on Student Achievement and Growth', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 100, June 2024, p. 102524.

Nusche, D.M., Fuster Rabella, and S. Lauterbach, *Rethinking Education in the Context of Climate Change: Leverage Points for Transformative Change*, OECD Education Working Papers, Vol. 307, Vol. 307, *OECD Education Working Papers*, February 16, 2024.

OECD, Building a Skilled Cyber Security Workforce in Europe: Insights from France, Germany and Poland, OECD Skills Studies, OECD, 2024.

OECD, OECD Finnish Education Evaluation Centre (FINEEC): OECD Centre for Skills Evaluations, OECD Skills Studies, OECD Publishing, Paris, . 2024. https://doi.org/10.1787/b1c0b194-en

OECD, OECD Employment Outlook 2024: The Net-Zero Transition and the Labour Market, OECD Publishing, Paris, OECD, 2024. https://doi.org/10.1787/ac8b3538-en.

Ofek-Shanny, Y., 'Measurements of Performance Gaps Are Sensitive to the Level of Test Stakes: Evidence from PISA and a Field Experiment', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 98, February 2024, p. 102490.

Owen, S., 'College Major Choice and Beliefs about Relative Performance: An Experimental Intervention to Understand Gender Gaps in STEM', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 97, December 2023, p. 102479.

Paredes, T., and A. Sevilla, 'The Impact of Incentivizing Training on Students' Outcomes', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 98, February 2024, p. 102489.

Pastorino, E., 'Careers in Firms: The Role of Learning about Ability and Human Capital Acquisition', *Journal of Political Economy*, Vol. 132, No. 6, June 1, 2024, pp. 1994–2073.

Pozo-Rico, T., R. Scott, M. Bąk, J.-L. Castejón, and R. Gilar-Corbí, 'Riding the Wave towards Flourishing in STEM Education: Enhancing Teaching Efficacy through a K-12 Training Program', *Teaching and Teacher Education*, Vol. 143, June 2024, p. 104564.

Ruhose, J., S.L. Thomsen, and I. Weilage, 'No Mental Retirement: Estimating Voluntary Adult Education Activities of Older Workers', *Education Economics*, Vol. 32, No. 4, July 3, 2024, pp. 440–473.

Ruiz, C., S. Kohnen, A. Von Hagen, F.Y. Kwok, and R. Bull, 'Which Domain-Specific Skills at the Beginning of Formal Schooling Predict Later Mathematical Achievement? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis', *Educational Research Review*, Vol. 42, February 2024, p. 100583.

Schwerter, J., N. Netz, and N. Hübner, 'Does Instructional Time at School Influence Study Time at University? Evidence from an Instructional Time Reform', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 100, June 2024, p. 102526.

Seiger, F., F. Majorano Sarapo, S. Kalantaryan, F. Biagi, and G. Mazzeo Ortolani, 'The Contribution of Third Country Nationals to the Twin Transition in the EU', European Commission, Ispra, JRC137170., 2024.

Silva, P.L., 'Specialists or All-Rounders: How Best to Select University Students?', *Journal of Human Capital*, Vol. 18, No. 2, June 1, 2024, pp. 227–271.

Skinner, B.T., and W.R. Doyle, 'Predicting Postsecondary Attendance by Family Income in the United States Using Multilevel Regression with Poststratification', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 99, April 2024, p. 102508.

Srivastava, V., 'Study of Climate Literacy and Pro-Environmental Behavior amongst Students', *Citizenship, Social and Economics Education*, Vol. 23, No. 1, April 2024, pp. 31–46.

Teichert, C., A. Niebuhr, A. Otto, and A. Rossen, 'University-to-Work Transitions in Germany – Do Graduate Job Seekers Benefit from Migration and Work Experience?', *Education Economics*, Vol. 32, No. 3, May 3, 2024, pp. 355–380.

Teig, N., and I. Steinmann, 'Leveraging Large-Scale Assessments for Effective and Equitable School Practices: The Case of the Nordic Countries', *Large-Scale Assessments in Education*, Vol. 11, No. 1, June 5, 2023, pp. 21, s40536-023-00172-w.

Tobin, Z., 'How Do Public Schools Respond to Competition? Evidence from a Charter School Expansion', *Economics of Education Review*, Vol. 99, April 2024, p. 102519.

UNESCO, *The Price of Inaction: The Global Private, Fiscal and Social Costs of Children and Youth Not Learning*, UNESCO, 2024.

Van Der Weide, R., C. Lakner, D.G. Mahler, A. Narayan, and R. Gupta, 'Intergenerational Mobility around the World: A New Database', *Journal of Development Economics*, Vol. 166, January 2024, p. 103167.

Vembye, M.H., F. Weiss, and B. Hamilton Bhat, 'The Effects of Co-Teaching and Related Collaborative Models of Instruction on Student Achievement: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis', *Review of Educational Research*, Vol. 94, No. 3, June 2024, pp. 376–422.

World Bank, 'How Should We Design Cash Transfer Programs?', 2020.

